
CITY COUNCIL PROCEEDINGS 
 

August 11, 2021 
 
 

 The City Council of the City of David City, Nebraska, met in open public session at 
7:00 p.m. in the meeting room of the City Office located at 557 N. 4th Street, David City, 
Nebraska. The Public had been advised of the meeting by publication of notice in The 
Banner Press on August 5, 2021, and an affidavit of the publisher is on file in the office of the 
City Clerk. The Mayor and members of the City Council acknowledged advance notice of the 
meeting by signing the Agenda which is a part of these minutes. The advance notice to the 
Public, Mayor, and Council members conveyed the availability of the agenda, which was kept 
continuously current in the office of the City Clerk and was available for public inspection on 
the City’s website. No new items were added to the agenda during the twenty-four hours 
immediately prior to the opening of the Council meeting. The meeting was held at the City 
Auditorium due to the COVID-19 pandemic so as to incorporate social distancing strategies. 
[It is recommended that individuals be kept at least 6 feet apart.]  
 
 Present for the meeting were:  Mayor Alan Zavodny, Council members Tom Kobus, 
Pat Meysenburg, John Vandenberg, Kevin Woita and Jessica Miller, City Attorney Joanna 
Uden, City Administrator Clayton Keller and City Clerk Tami Comte.  Council member Bruce 
Meysenburg was absent. 
 
 Also present for the meeting were:  Electric Supervisor Pat Hoeft, Interim Water 
Supervisor Aaron Gustin, Sheriff Tom Dion, Keith Marvin of Marvin Planning Consultants, 
Inc., Ethan Joy of JEO, Inc., Ed Warholoski, Phil Cook, Shaun Tucker and Will Morris of 
Bryant, Lincoln. 
 
 The meeting opened with the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
 Mayor Alan Zavodny informed the public of the “Open Meetings Act” posted on the east 
wall of the meeting room and asked those present to please silence their cell phones. He also 
reminded the public that if they speak tonight in front of the Council that they must state their 
name and address for the record.  
 
 Council member Jessica Miller made a motion to approve the minutes of the July 28, 
2021 meeting as presented. Council Member Pat Meysenburg seconded the motion. The 
motion carried. 
Tom Kobus: Yea, Bruce Meysenburg: Absent, Pat Meysenburg: Yea, Jessica Miller: Yea, John 
Vandenberg: Yea, Kevin Woita: Yea 
Yea: 5, Nay: 0, Absent: 1 
 
 Council member Pat Meysenburg made a motion to approve payment of the claims as 
presented. Council Member Jessica Miller seconded the motion. The motion carried. 
Tom Kobus: Yea, Bruce Meysenburg: Absent, Pat Meysenburg: Yea, Jessica Miller: Yea, John 
Vandenberg: Yea, Kevin Woita: Yea 
Yea: 5, Nay: 0, Absent: 1 
 
 Mayor Zavodny stated that the next agenda item was Committee and Officer’s reports. 
 
 Mayor Zavodny stated that he would like to know what the infiltration numbers are at the 
wastewater treatment plant. 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #2 

 
 Council member Miller asked Electric Supervisor Pat Hoeft about the overtime in their 
department during July. Electric Supervisor Pat Hoeft informed the council the overtime is from 
power outages and reconnection of electric services. 
 
 City Administrator Clayton Keller said, “With the storm, the wastewater treatment plant 
did have flooding happen at the headworks building.  The water was almost to the window, 
about ready to come into the building and so they made the decision to break the dam, 
basically, so they cut out that part of the road around the headworks building to release the 
water before it got into the headworks building.  They called NDEE the next day and made them 
aware and they said ‘Ok, thanks for letting us know’, and we called our engineers, Olsson, to let 
them know what we had done on Sunday.” 
 
 Mayor Alan Zavodny said, “Also, I wanted to let you know that I authorized rental of a 
vac unit for about a month at roughly $4,000 because ours is down and we have to have that 
with all of the other people coming to do work in town.  We’ve got to have that ready to go.” 
 
 City Administrator Clayton Keller said, “I realized yesterday that our agreement for the 
Bruno Water Line expired back in March and us, Bruno and Lower Platte North NRD didn’t 
catch that until this week. So, we have that in the works to get a new agreement.  Until then, it 
will be business as usual.  The Natural Resources District will keep paying for the water and we 
will get the agreement in place in a month or so.” 
 
 Mayor Zavodny said, “Yeah, I think if we quite sending water to Bruno they might notice.” 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller made a motion to accept the committee and officer's 
reports as presented. Council Member Pat Meysenburg seconded the motion. The motion 
carried. 
Tom Kobus: Yea, Bruce Meysenburg: Absent, Pat Meysenburg: Yea, Jessica Miller: Yea, John 
Vandenberg: Yea, Kevin Woita: Yea 
Yea: 5, Nay: 0, Absent: 1 
 
 Mayor Zavodny stated that the next item on the agenda was consideration of the quotes 
received for a new basket truck for the electric department. 
 
 Electric Supervisor Pat Hoeft introduced himself and said, “We decided to go with the 
Altec quote from Sourcewell.” 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller said, “Does it have everything that you want?  It’s 
everything that is going to get you by for the next twenty years?  These other trucks have lasted 
past their lifetime, so I’m just asking.” 
 
 Electric Supervisor Pat Hoeft said, “There will be a ladder rack that will have to be 
installed after we receive it.  It has a bed underneath it and it doesn’t matter what style ladder 
we get to put underneath it.” 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller said, “You’re happy with this one?” 
 
 Electric Supervisor Pat Hoeft said, “Yes.  The guys were out demoing the one and this 
one will be very similar to the Altec.  They were so impressed to just shoot into a tree to trim it 
and then rotate the bucket to reach the other side and they didn’t have to try to rejockey with it.” 
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #3 

 
 Council member Kevin Woita said, “This says a year plus for delivery.  Is that true?” 
 
 Electric Supervisor Pat Hoeft said, “Yes.” 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller made a motion to approve the quote of Altec for a new 
basket truck for the Electric Department. Council Member Pat Meysenburg seconded the 
motion. The motion carried. 
Tom Kobus: Yea, Bruce Meysenburg: Absent, Pat Meysenburg: Yea, Jessica Miller: Yea, John 
Vandenberg: Yea, Kevin Woita: Yea   
Yea: 5, Nay: 0, Absent: 1 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #4 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #5 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #6 

 

 
  



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #7 

 

 
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #8 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #9 

 

 
  

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #10 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #11 

 

 
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #12 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #13 

 

 
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #14 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #15 

 

 
 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #16 

 

 
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #17 

 

 
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #18 

 

 
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #19 

 

 
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #20 

 

 
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #21 

 

 
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #22 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #23 

 

 
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #24 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #25 

 

 
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #26 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #27 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #28 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #29 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #30 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #31 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #32 

 

 
 
 Mayor Zavodny stated that the next item on the agenda was consideration of the bids 
received for the remaining bricks from the Downtown Renovation Project. 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #33 

 
 
 Mayor Zavodny said, “We received the bid at the last meeting and one of our concerns 
was what the agreement was going to be on securing them.  Clayton did follow up and found 
out from them that they were fine with the way we have it.  I feel that we should fence off that 
area and put a sign that says ‘any taking of bricks is considered theft’ and at least post it.” 
 
 City Administrator Clayton Keller said, “We’ve got a sign up like that right now, so what 
we could do now is put a rope around where the bricks are.” 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller made a motion to approve the bid from Gavin Bricks to 
purchase the remainder of the bricks from the Downtown Renovation project. Council Member 
Pat Meysenburg seconded the motion. The motion carried. 
Tom Kobus: Yea, Bruce Meysenburg: Absent, Pat Meysenburg: Yea, Jessica Miller: Yea, John 
Vandenberg: Yea, Kevin Woita: Yea 
Yea: 5, Nay: 0, Absent: 1 
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #34 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #35 

 

 
 
 Council member Pat Meysenburg made a motion to approve Olsson Letter Agreement 
Amendment #1 for the Construction Phase Services for the NE 15 Turn Lane Improvements. 
Council Member Jessica Miller seconded the motion. The motion carried. 
Tom Kobus: Yea, Bruce Meysenburg: Absent, Pat Meysenburg: Yea, Jessica Miller: Yea, John 
Vandenberg: Yea, Kevin Woita: Yea   Yea: 5, Nay: 0, Absent: 1 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #36 

 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #37 

 

 
 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #38 

 

 
 

 
 Mayor Zavodny stated that the next item on the agenda was consideration of purchasing 
the Timpte Parkway street sign and light pole. 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #39 

 
 
 City Administrator Clayton Keller said, “Timpte has problems with truck drivers that are 
not from this area missing their street and they want some kind of sign that says ‘Here’s Timpte’.  
They were going to try to put a marquee on the side of the highway but since they don’t own 
land on the highway, they couldn’t put their marquee on the highway and the state won’t let 
them put it in the right-of-way.  So, their next option was to get a really tall and big street sign 
that says ‘Timpte Parkway’.  The city helped out a lot with getting the sign ready and after a 
conversation with Timpte on Monday, they said that would be willing to buy the actual ten-foot 
sign if we bought the pole and installed it.  I thought that was a fine compromise.” 
 
 Mayor Zavodny said, “This is a promise that we made and one that I feel strongly that 
we should keep.” 
 
 Council member Kevin Woita said, “This will not open up any other businesses asking 
for the same thing down the road, will it?” 
 
 Council member Pat Meysenburg said, “I don’t think so since Timpte will be paying for 
the sign.” 
 
 Council member Kevin Woita said, “They’ll pay for the sign but the pole is twelve 
thousand dollars.” 
 
 City Administrator Clayton Keller said, “So, we’re using the proceeds from the brick sale 
to cover our portion so we’re not spending taxpayer or rate payer dollars on this.” 
 
 Council member Kevin Woita said, “I just feel that down the line if somebody in the future 
asks for the same thing that we can’t deny them.  I have nothing against this.  The ten-foot sign, 
is it ten-foot length or what are the dimensions on it?” 
 
 City Administrator Clayton Keller said, “It’s thirty-feet tall and it will stick out ten-feet.  It 
will be hard to miss.” 
 
 Council member Tom Kobus said, “We promised them that so I think we ought to do it.” 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller said, “At this point, I don’t know why we wouldn’t do this. 
They pour a lot back into the community.  If this comes up again down the road, we can 
evaluate how much other companies pour back into the community.” 
 
 Council member Tom Kobus made a motion to approve purchasing the Timpte Parkway 
Street Sign and light pole. Council Member Pat Meysenburg seconded the motion. The motion 
carried. 
Tom Kobus: Yea, Bruce Meysenburg: Absent, Pat Meysenburg: Yea, Jessica Miller: Yea, John 
Vandenberg: Yea, Kevin Woita: Yea 
Yea: 5, Nay: 0, Absent: 1 
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #40 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #41 

 

 
 

 
 Mayor Zavodny stated that the next agenda item was consideration of approving a 
Memorandum of Understanding between the City and the University of Nebraska-Lincoln for a 
Downtown Revitalization Plan. 
 
 City Administrator Clayton Keller said, “Southeast Economic Development District, or 
SENDD, reached out to us a couple of months ago with an idea.  It was the first time that 
they’ve tried something like this and they wanted to see how it would go.  We were interested.  
They are partnering with us and UNL and their planning program to do a Downtown 
Revitalization Plan.  Normally a plan like this would cost forty or fifty thousand dollars. But UNL 
would only charge us eight thousand dollars for this, basically, and SENDD is going to cover five 
thousand dollars of it. So that leaves us with a bill of three thousand dollars, plus I promised that 
we’d provide food at the two public meetings that we had to help get people there and to feed 
the students because it’s an hour drive up from there.” 
 
 Mayor Zavodny said, “This is a no-brainer.” 
 
 Council member Kevin Woita made a motion to approve a Memorandum of 
Understanding between the City and the University of Nebraska - Lincoln for a Downtown 
Revitalization Plan. Council Member Jessica Miller seconded the motion. The motion carried. 
Tom Kobus: Yea, Bruce Meysenburg: Absent, Pat Meysenburg: Yea, Jessica Miller: Yea, John 
Vandenberg: Yea, Kevin Woita: Yea 
Yea: 5, Nay: 0, Absent: 1 
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #42 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #43 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #44 

 

 
 

 Council member Jessica Miller made a motion to pass and adopt Ordinance No. 1366, 
on 3rd & Final reading. Council Member Pat Meysenburg seconded the motion.  
Tom Kobus: Yea, Bruce Meysenburg: Absent, Pat Meysenburg: Yea, Jessica Miller: Yea, John 
Vandenberg: Yea, Kevin Woita: Yea 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #45 

 
Yea: 5, Nay: 0, Absent: 1 
 The motion carried and Ordinance No. 1366 was passed and adopted as follows: 

 

ORDINANCE NO.  1366 

 

 AN ORDINANCE TO EXTEND THE BOUNDARIES AND INCLUDE WITHIN THE 
CORPORATE LIMITS OF, AND TO ANNEX TO, THE CITY OF DAVID CITY, NEBRASKA,  
A TRACT OF LAND LOCATED IN LOTS 6 AND 7, DAVID CITY LAND AND LOT COMPANY’S 
SUBURBAN LOTS, LOCATED IN THE SW ¼ OF THE SE ¼ OF SECTION 18 T15N R3E OF 
THE 6TH P.M., BUTLER COUNTY, NEBRASKA, LEGALLY DESCRIBED BELOW, REPEALING 
ANY ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; DESCRIBING THE TIME WHEN THIS 
ORDINANCE SHALL BE IN FULL FORCE AND EFFECT, AND PROVIDING FOR 
PUBLICATION OF THE ORDINANCE IN PAMPHLET FORM. 
 
      WHEREAS, a majority of the City Council of the City of David City, Nebraska, favors the 
annexation of the following described real property and the extension of the city limits to include 
said property, as follows: 
 

BEGINNING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 8 IN SAID DAVID CITY LAND AND LOT 
COMPANY’S SUBURBAN LOTS; THENCE N89°43’00”E ON THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOTS 6 AND 
7, A DISTANCE OF 638.12 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 6; THENCE 
S00°20’16”W ON THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT 6, A DISTANCE OF 796.95 FEET TO THE NORTH 
LINE OF SYPAL EAST ADDITION TO THE CITY OF DAVID CITY, NEBRASKA, ALSO BEING THE 
NORTH LINE OF THE CITY OF DAVID CITY’S EXISTING CORPORATE LIMITS; THENCE N89°30’38”W 
ON SAID NORTH LINES, A DISTANCE OF 447.27 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID 
SYPAL EAST ADDITION; THENCE S00°33’20”W ON THE EAST LINE OF SAID SYPAL EAST 
ADDITION AND THE WEST LINE OF SAID CORPORATE LIMITS, A DISTANCE OF 149.37 FEET; 
THENCE N89°27’22”W ON SAID NORTH CORPORATE LIMITS LINE, A DISTANCE OF 191.23 FEET 
TO THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT 8 AND THE EAST LINE OF SAID CORPORATE LIMITS; THENCE 
N00°23’53”E ON SAID EAST LINES, A DISTANCE OF 937.53 FEET TO THE 
POINT OF BEGINNING, CONTAINING 12.7 ACRES, MORE OR LESS; 

 
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #46 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF DAVID CITY, NEBRASKA: 
 
     Section 1.  That the boundaries of the City of David City, Nebraska, be amended and 
changed in order to include the property described above. 
 
     Section 2.  That this Ordinance be filed with the Office of the County Assessor and County 
Clerk of Butler County, Nebraska, and that the City Clerk be directed to amend the plat filed in 
her office to show the inclusion of the real estate listed above and that the boundary of David 
City as amended by this Ordinance be certified and placed on record in the office of the City 
Clerk of David City, Nebraska. 
 
     Section 3.  That any Ordinance, setting or establishing boundaries of the City of David City, 
Nebraska, which is in conflict with this Ordinance be and the same is hereby repealed. 
 
     Section 4.  This ordinance shall be published in pamphlet form and shall be in full force and 
effect from and after its passage as provided by law. 
 
     Passed and approved this  11th   day of   August     , 2021 . 
 
 
 

                                                                                           
                                                  
ATTEST:            Mayor Alan Zavodny 
 
 
                                                                            
City Clerk Tami L. Comte 
   
 
 
 Mayor Zavodny stated that the next agenda item was consideration of commissioning 
Marvin Planning Consultants, Inc. to conduct a blight study for the recently annexed property as 
legally described above. 
 
 Keith Marvin of Marvin Planning Consultants, Inc. introduced himself and said, “This will 
be like we’ve done in the past.  I’ve talked with Clayton and Tami.  This is going to be a small 
area and it’s going to be contained to the area that was just annexed.  Unfortunately, in order to 
get us to the age of structures that we need we’ll need to go right through Mr. Vandenberg’s 
property to get to the block south of “O” Street from his property.  That’s where we’re going to 
get the age of structures that we need.  We will be using the small sliver of “O” Street that goes 
through there, the ditches, etc.” 
 
 Mayor Zavodny said, “Where do we stand as far as the percentage of blighted area?” 
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #47 

 
 Keith Marvin of Marvin Planning Consultants, Inc. said, “Clayton and I were talking about 
that.  That is one of the things that we will determine with this.  I don’t believe that we are 
anywhere close to the fifty percent because we deblighted a bunch of area before we brought in 
Cory’s.” 
 
 Mayor Zavodny said, “That’s my big concern, if you can alleviate that.” 
 
 Keith Marvin of Marvin Planning Consultants, Inc. said, “That’s why we want to do as 
small of an area as possible.  We went down to about thirty-four or thirty-five percent before we 
did Cory’s, and since then we’ve added the one block for the Treat residence, and I believe that 
we added everything north of Timpte but we also annexed that, and we annexed this area so 
we’re picking up fifty percent of a new area.  The annexation is helping us as we go forward.” 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller said, “What’s the cost on this?” 
 
 Keith Marvin of Marvin Planning Consultants, Inc. said, “Fifteen hundred dollars.” 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller said, “I’m just curious.  I’ve been very vocal that I hope 
we can grow.” 
 
 Keith Marvin of Marvin Planning Consultants, Inc. said, “That is due partly to the fact that 
I live here and the only other condition is that when it goes to the Planning Commission, since I 
sit on the Planning Commission, that Clayton will have to do all of the presenting at the Planning 
Commission and the Council, because I will have a conflict of interest at that point in time.  I will 
go over it completely with Clayton so he understands what we’ve done.” 
 
 Mayor Zavodny said, “We have a history with Mr. Marvin and he has always produced 
what he says he would.  This is money well spent.” 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller made a motion to approve commissioning Marvin 
Planning Consultants, Inc. to conduct a blight study for the recently annexed property as legally 
described above. Council Member Pat Meysenburg seconded the motion. The motion carried. 
Tom Kobus: Yea, Bruce Meysenburg: Absent, Pat Meysenburg: Yea, Jessica Miller: Yea, John 
Vandenberg: Yea, Kevin Woita: Yea 
Yea: 5, Nay: 0, Absent: 1 
 
 Ed Warholoski from Bryant Air Conditioning and Heating introduced himself and said, 
“I’d like to thank Pat and the City Administrator for inviting us to bid the project for you guys.  It’s 
a pretty extensive project to convert all of the gas fired equipment to electric equipment.  So, 
I’ve got everybody here from our design team that assisted in bidding the project.  I’ve got Phil 
Cook, our electrical manager, Shaun Tucker, our mechanical manager and our factory supplier 
representative Will Morris, who would be providing the equipment for the project.” 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller said, “So, the equipment that is needed, like everything 
else in the world, how far back is it to get the equipment?  How are you standing with your 
stuff?” 
 
 Mayor Zavodny said, “How far out are we?” 
 
 Will Morris from Bryant Air Conditioning and Heating said, “Great question.  That is the 
first thing that everyone has been asking these days.  There are two different types of 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #48 

 
components, and as of today most of it is available out of Texas.  Some of the main outdoor 
units are available at the end of this month.  They make them there, so those aren’t bad.  Some 
of the package rooftop units are about six to eight weeks out.” 
 Mayor Zavodny said, “What’s the worst-case scenario for everything that we would 
need?” 
 
 Will Morris said, “That’s just for the equipment.  I can’t speak to everything that these 
guys would be installing.” 
 
 Ed Warholoski with Bryant Air Conditioning and Heating said, “The bulk of the project is 
refrigeration piping and a lot of electrical upgrades.  As far as the refrigeration mechanical 
aspect of it, it’s pretty readily available right now.  We can get it.  I think if Phil can speak to the 
availability of all of the wiring and conduits that we need to put it together, then I think we can 
have everything as we need it.” 
 
 Phil Cook with Bryant Air Conditioning and Heating said, “The panel board that we’re 
using is a General Electric panel board that comes out of either Des Moines or Kansas City, and 
they are on a four-to-eight-week delay so it’s very quick for us.  Also, the Des Moines company 
that would build it, would build it on-site and we’ve been getting those within a week.” 
 
 Mayor Zavodny said, “Where would we fall on your schedule should we approve moving 
forward with this?  When could you start and when can we expect completion?” 
 
 Ed Warholoski asked Shaun Tucker to answer the question. 
 
 Shaun Tucker with Bryant Air Conditioning and Heating said, “We’re pretty open at the 
end of August.  We’re just finishing up some jobs.” 
 
 Mayor Zavodny said, “How long would you predict this to take?” 
 
 Shaun Tucker with Bryant Air Conditioning and Heating said, “I don’t remember how 
many labor hours I had figured in, but it’s going to be at least a couple of months.” 
 
 Ed Warholoski said, “I would say two to three months we should have it completed.” 
 
 Phil Cook said, “Electric-wise I had eight weeks scheduled for two electricians.” 
 
 Mayor Zavodny said, “The end of November?  If there’s anything unforeseen you would 
certainly let us know.” 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller asked if there was a warranty on this. 
 
 Ed Warholoski said, “We’re going to have one year labor warranty, and as far as 
equipment goes….” 
 
 Will Morris said, “The equipment will have a ten-year limited parts warranty.  There isn’t 
a labor warranty on those, but if the component were to fail in ten years for reasons other than 
lack of maintenance they would be covered.” 
 
 Mayor Zavodny said, “What is the life expectancy of this?  My experience has been that 
a 1950’s washer lasts longer than a 2021 washer.” 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #49 

 
 
 Will Morris said, “The rooftop units would have a one-year parts and a five-year 
compressor parts and a one year support through the first year, as well.” 
 
 Phil Cook said, “The electrical would be a one-year warranty.  I also put surge 
suppressors built into the machines so that all of your computer equipment would have a 
warranty due to a surge.” 
 
 Mayor Alan Zavodny said, “Kind of sounds like the most expensive parts have a fairly 
short warranty.  What we have now – I can tell you that boilers are just a headache.  You have 
to have annual inspections and a lot can go wrong with them and they are very old.” 
 
 City Administrator Clayton Keller said, “Is this a system that needs winterized and 
summerized?” 
 
 Ed Warholoski said, “No.” 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller said, “Just maintenance?” 
 
 Mayor Alan Zavodny said, “Discuss that with us, just briefly.  Can you give us an idea of 
what the maintenance routine would look like?” 
 
 Will Morris said, “A great practice in Nebraska, especially with all of the cotton that flies 
is lower pressure washing your condenser unit coils outside and make sure that you’re not 
bending fins over and you have to make sure that you have good air flow around there.  Our 
company or Bryant can help with that.  Make sure that you stay on top of your filter changes.  If 
you restrict air on the indoor units, you can cause higher pressure on the refrigeration side 
which can damage the equipment and possibly lead to earlier failures of compressors.  
Obviously, just make sure that fan motors aren’t running when you’re up there changing your 
filter and just make sure that things are spinning right.  Visual inspection with this system is 
good.  The outdoor equipment, the electronic side has come a long way since the white Rogers 
thermostat on your wall here that I saw when I walked in.  Once a year general diagnostic 
service just to check in on your system is good.  There’s ways to do that remotely now with the 
internet or have the guys stop out for half a day.” 
 
 Mayor Alan Zavodny said, “So we’re not talking about anything outside the realm of 
normal maintenance?” 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller said, “What department does this fall on to maintain 
this?” 
 
 City Clerk Tami Comte said, “It would be the electric department.” 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller said, “Pat, are you comfortable with all that?” 
 
 Electric Supervisor Pat Hoeft said, “Yes, if we get rid of the gas.” 
 
 City Clerk Tami Comte said, “They do all of that stuff for us now.  They are really good 
about changing the furnace filters and they inspect our stuff and clean it for us.” 
 
 Ed Warholoski said, “We do a full owner training.” 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #50 

 
 
 Electric Supervisor Pat Hoeft said, “Yes, we do all of that now.  Mick changes the filters 
once a month and he blows out the outside unit over here.  There’s two on the south side that 
he checks on.” 
 
 Council member Tom Kobus made a motion to approve the quote from Bryant Lincoln to 
convert the new City Office at 490 "E" Street from natural gas service to all electric for heating 
and cooling. Council Member Pat Meysenburg seconded the motion. The motion carried. 
Tom Kobus: Yea, Bruce Meysenburg: Absent, Pat Meysenburg: Yea, Jessica Miller: Yea, John 
Vandenberg: Yea, Kevin Woita: Yea 
Yea: 5, Nay: 0, Absent: 1 
 
 
 
  
 
  
 
  
 
  
 
 
 
 
  
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #51 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #52 

 

 
 
 Mayor Zavodny stated that the next item on the agenda was consideration of Progress 
Estimate #1 for Acterra Group in the amount of $156,640.64 for the 93Y Fuel Project. 
 
 City Administrator Clayton Keller explained that this was contingent upon the NDOT – 
Department of Aeronautics approval. 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller made a motion to approve Progress Estimate #1 for 
Acterra Group in the amount of $156,640.64 for the 93Y Fuel Project contingent upon approval 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #53 

 
by the NDOT - Aeronautics Division. Council Member Pat Meysenburg seconded the motion. 
The motion carried. 
Tom Kobus: Yea, Bruce Meysenburg: Absent, Pat Meysenburg: Yea, Jessica Miller: Yea, John 
Vandenberg: Yea, Kevin Woita: Yea 
Yea: 5, Nay: 0, Absent: 1 
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #54 

 

 
 
 Mayor Zavodny stated that the next item on the agenda was consideration of an 
agreement with JEO, Inc. for the David City Water Treatment Plant upgrade. 
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #55 

 
 City Administrator Clayton Keller said, “Ethan Joy is here with JEO, Inc.  Thanks for 
coming Ethan.  He can talk a little bit more about the breakdowns and the prices but essentially 
for JEO to do the Water Treatment Plant conversion to reverse osmosis it would be $798,000, 
which is a little below what you had in your study.” 
 
 Ethan Joy introduced himself and said, “Thanks for having me.  This contract is getting 
everything started.  So, I think last time we accepted the SRF funding offer and that had a little 
over a million dollars of loan forgiveness of grant money, which is good.  So, this is the next step 
and I’m kind of excited to get started on the design.  Myself and our team will get here and we’ll 
go through the plant step by step, get it surveyed, have a kick-off meeting with staff and kind of 
go through and make sure that we are hitting everything that Aaron wants to see.  We’re looking 
at this as a comprehensive improvement.  So, if there’s something that’s a little off, we’re going 
to look to fix it.  Some of the lighting is original and we’re going to look at putting in LED lights.  
The doors and windows are going to be replaced because they are original, they leak air and 
we’re going to get them fixed and up to energy code.  Along with the technical stuff, we’re going 
to convert your filtering system to be more efficient, the backwashes, we’re going to put the R.O. 
system in, the lime system will go away.  We’ll come up with a phasing plan to make sure that 
we can, the best that we can during construction, keep everything moving.  That’s probably 
going to be the most challenging part of this project is the phasing plan to make sure as we’re 
taking things offline and bringing things back up, how do we fit everything in that.  In addition, 
we’re redoing all of the electrical.  The motor control centers are going to be replaced because 
those are original and it’s time to get rid of those.  That’s it.  Our scope is pretty comprehensive, 
full design, bidding, construction, and RPR (Resident Project Representation) is a person on-
site.  We’re estimating 900 hours of people on-site watching the construction.  That is hourly so 
if we get a great contractor we don’t use as much and we won’t bill as much.” 
 
 Mayor Alan Zavodny said, “The only thing that I need to hear from you is you remain 
extremely confident that this will work.” 
 
 Ethan Joy of JEO, Inc. said, “Yes.  Absolutely.  Reverse Osmosis takes everything out of 
the water.  You will have soft water with it.  Staff are going to be able to blend it to the point 
where you have six to eight grains per gallon, if that’s the target that you want, we’ll get there.  
You have pretty good raw water, as far as iron and manganese.  You don’t have a lot of that in 
there.  The load on the filters is actually going to be pretty light, compared to some plants that I 
work with in the state, so I don’t see any issues at the end of the day.” 
 
 Mayor Alan Zavodny said, “The people of Bruno are counting on you.” 
 
 Council member Kevin Woita said, “What about maintenance?  What is going on now 
seems to be pretty labor intensive.” 
 
 Ethan Joy of JEO, Inc. said, “Anything is going to take maintenance.  There is nothing 
that is maintenance free.   We are going to get rid of the heavy labor requirement here.  This is 
going to be an automated system.  When you add more controls, yes there’s more bells and 
whistles to make sure that we stay on top of, but the intent is that we don’t have to have 
somebody there all day.” 
 
 Mayor Alan Zavodny said, “Piggying onto that, your technology will tell you if something 
is out of whack, so we’ll get alarms to say this component has failed or check this.” 
 Ethan Joy of JEO, Inc. said, “When we’re done with the control system, he will be able to 
control the entire water plant with his phone.” 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #56 

 
 
 Council member Tom Kobus said, “The biggest thing is that they get rid of the lime.” 
 
 Ethan Joy of JEO, Inc. said, “Yes.  The lime will go away and at the end, as part of the 
SRF process, they require an O & M, Operation and Maintenance manual.” 
 
 Mayor Alan Zavodny said, “This is no offense to Aaron whatsoever, but this system had 
better be smarter than he is.  I just want to make sure that the technology is there to say this 
isn’t working or you’ve got a problem here or does it warn us ahead of time before an expensive 
problem happens that we can fix earlier.  The monitoring is very good.” 
 
 Council member Kevin Woita said, “Is it going to take somebody well educated to run it?  
Even though it’s high tech, is it simple to run it?” 
 
 Ethan Joy of JEO, Inc. said, “Yeah.  I don’t think it will be any more complicated than 
now.  When you’re feeding lime, you have to watch your PH’s, your lime dosage and your 
feeder is being as poorly….” 
 
 Mayor Alan Zavodny said, “That’s why we want to get rid of it.” 
 
 Ethan Joy of JEO, Inc. said, “It’s hard to get the correct dose.  It’s going to be easier to 
maintain.” 
 
 Council member Kevin Woita said, “Right now it’s pretty technical to me.” 
 
 Mayor Alan Zavodny said, “A lot can go wrong with lime feeding.” 
 
 Ethan Joy of JEO, Inc. said, “We will take that away.” 
 
 Interim Water Supervisor Aaron Gustin said, “The less added dosing of anything, you 
have one of four, five or six things that we dose with now go out of whack it affects everything 
down the line, so it’s constant.” 
 
 Mayor Alan Zavodny said, “Any other questions?” 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller said, “When is the projected completion?” 
 
 Ethan Joy of JEO, Inc. said, “So our design period is about two hundred and fifty days.  
It’s gonna take a little bit.  There’s a lot of people that are going to be involved in this.  That will 
be about March or April of next year, and then it goes to the State of review and you figure 
about thirty to sixty days for the State of Nebraska to review it and approve the plans, and at 
that point we will set a bidding date, probably bidding about this time next year, and then the 
construction period will be about a year to fourteen months, so you’re looking at completion in 
2023.” 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller said, “This is it for the price, there won’t be any 
surprises?” 
 
 Ethan Joy of JEO, Inc. said, “No.  Unless you ask me to build another water plant on the 
other side of town, too.  This is it.” 
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #57 

 
 Council member John Vandenberg said, “There will be no issues with maintaining the 
water quality that we’ve got as construction gets started.” 
 
 Ethan Joy of JEO, Inc. said, “As I said, that’s the toughest part.  There will be maybe a 
period where we’re going to have to take the lime down and the R.O. will not be running, so 
we’ll have to figure out what that time period will be and if we have to do that, we’ll make sure to 
notify everyone, especially Michael Foods.” 
 
  Interim Water Supervisor Aaron Gustin said, “It would be very similar to the time that we 
did the pilot program, not so long ago, where we attempted to go lime-free.  It will be of a similar 
nature.” 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller said, “So, since this is less labor intensive, are we going 
to be able to put that extra employee back over at the wastewater plant?” 
 
 Interim Water Supervisor Aaron Gustin said, “We currently have another individual 
training at the wastewater plant.  He started on Monday and it will allow my team to do more of 
what we’ve been doing in the last month to be in the field.” 
 
 Mayor Alan Zavodny said, “I think that’s going to be even more important as we move 
forward.  Just to be sure, do we have plenty of capacity?” 
 
 Ethan Joy of JEO, Inc. said, “You have plenty of capacity.” 
 
 Mayor Alan Zavodny said, “As we extend north of town with the newly annexed and 
once the blight stuff gets going and we add some housing, this is going to take care of all of 
that?” 
 
 Ethan Joy of JEO, Inc. said, “Yes.” 
 
 Mayor Alan Zavodny said, “I just want to make sure that we get that on the record that 
with our growth, we have capacity.” 
 
 Ethan Joy of JEO, Inc. said, “Your peak days aren’t quite half of the capacity of the plant.  
Again, if you have an industry that comes in and is a wet industry that wants ten million gallons 
per day, that’s different.  But today, you’re good.” 
 
 Mayor Alan Zavodny said, “To translate that, we’d spend a lot more money to hire them 
to expand our system.” 
 
 Council member Tom Kobus made a motion to approve an agreement with JEO, Inc. for 
the David City Water Treatment Plant Upgrade. Council Member Pat Meysenburg seconded the 
motion. The motion carried. 
Tom Kobus: Yea, Bruce Meysenburg: Absent, Pat Meysenburg: Yea, Jessica Miller: Yea, John 
Vandenberg: Yea, Kevin Woita: Yea 
Yea: 5, Nay: 0, Absent: 1 
 
 
  
  
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #58 

 
  

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #59 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #60 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #61 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #62 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #63 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #64 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #65 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #66 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #67 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #68 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #69 

 

 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #70 

 

 
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #71 

 
 Mayor Zavodny stated that the next item on the agenda was consideration of applying 
for a Waste Reduction & Recycling Incentive Grant for rubber mulch through the Nebraska 
Dept. of Environment and Energy, and authorize the City Administrator to sign all necessary 
documents. 
 
 City Administrator Clayton Keller said, “The City agreed to do the purchase for the park 
equipment for the purple park (Jaycee Park) upgrade.  Friends of David City will reimburse us 
once that check is written and sent.  We won’t pay that until we get the invoice and the invoice 
doesn’t come until the equipment comes.  The equipment will come in October.  In the 
meantime, we would like to submit for a grant to the State to get reimbursed fifty percent of the 
cost for using rubber mulch and I just want to get Council approval before I hit submit on that 
grant.  I’ve got it all filled out and it’s ready to go.” 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller said, “That’s great.  Looking at an early childhood 
standpoint, rubber mulch is not the greatest for kids because there are wires in it.  Is this 
something that they requested or is this something that we really wanted?” 
 
 City Administrator Clayton Keller said, “This was requested by the City Council.  When 
the Friends of David City gave their proposal, the Council said that they wanted to see rubber 
mulch and there’s a grant out there to make that happen.” 
 
 Council member Pat Meysenburg said, “Isn’t there rubber mulch at the park now?” 
 
 Mayor Alan Zavodny said, “The Friends of David City purple park originally said that they 
didn’t feel that they could use rubber mulch because it was too expensive, and I remember 
Council member Hotovy talking about how we shouldn’t let that be the stopping point.  I don’t 
think the one at the public school has wires.” 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller said, “Yes, it does. There have been some incidents with 
the wires.” 
 
 Mayor Alan Zavodny said, “I’ve never heard of that.  I don’t know that we want mulch 
with wires in it.” 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller said, “I’m just looking at it from being on those 
playgrounds and subbing at different schools.  There have been pokies.” 
 
 Mayor Alan Zavodny said, “I suppose there are steel-belted tires and they are still there, 
but I’m surprised that is even still part of it.” 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller said, “I’m sure you can’t get every little bit of it.  I don’t 
know how often it happens.  Will there be liability on us if a kid gets hurt there?” 
 
 Mayor Alan Zavodny said, “I think that’s a very good question and so here’s what I want 
to say, is your grant time sensitive?” 
 
 City Administrator Clayton Keller said, “It is.  It’s due either the 15th or the 25th of August.” 
 
 Mayor Alan Zavodny said, “I would like an answer to the fact that there’s no steel in it.” 
 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #72 

 
 City Administrator Clayton Keller said, “Even if they give us the grant, we have to enter 
into a grant agreement.  So, at that point we could deny the agreement and not get the grant.” 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller said, “Is there some way to avoid liability if that freak 
accident happens?” 
 
 City Administrator Clayton Keller said, “The Political Subdivision Tort Claims Act.  
Basically, they can’t sue us.” 
 
 City Attorney Joanna Uden said, “They would have to prove that we were negligent.” 
 
 Council member Jessica Miller said, “You know somebody down the line will probably 
sue because we’re in a sue happy country.” 
 
 Keith Marvin said, “Go to rubbermulch.com.” 
 
 City Administrator Clayton Keller said, “That’s where we got one of our quotes for the 
grant.” 
 
 Keith Marvin said, “They claim to have wireless rubber mulch.” 
 
 Mayor Zavodny said, “I think Clayton gave us a road map to a reasonable course of 
action here.  We approve this and then get assurance that it’s steel-free rubber mulch, and at 
the time of executing the agreement we can decide to accept or not accept.” 
 
 Council member Pat Meysenburg made a motion to approve applying for a Waste 
Reduction & Recycling Incentive Grant for rubber mulch through the Nebraska Dept. of 
Environment and Energy, and authorize the City Administrator to sign all necessary documents. 
Council Member Kevin Woita seconded the motion. The motion carried. 
Tom Kobus: Yea, Bruce Meysenburg: Absent, Pat Meysenburg: Yea, Jessica Miller: Yea, John 
Vandenberg: Yea, Kevin Woita: Yea 
Yea: 5, Nay: 0, Absent: 1 
 

 There being no further business to come before the Council, Council member Jessica 

Miller made a motion to adjourn. Council Member Pat Meysenburg seconded the motion. The 
motion carried and Mayor Zavodny declared the meeting adjourned at 7:45 p.m. 
Tom Kobus: Yea, Bruce Meysenburg: Absent, Pat Meysenburg: Yea, Jessica Miller: Yea, John 
Vandenberg: Yea, Kevin Woita: Yea 
Yea: 5, Nay: 0, Absent: 1 

 
              

 
 

      CERTIFICATION OF MINUTES 
                                                                          August 11, 2021 

 
 
            I, Tami Comte, duly qualified and acting City Clerk for the City of David City, Nebraska, 
do hereby certify with regard to all proceedings of August 11, 2021; that all of the subjects 
included in the foregoing proceedings were contained in the agenda for the meeting, kept 



City Council Proceedings 
August 11, 2021 
Page #73 

 
continually current and available for public inspection at the office of the City Clerk; that such 
subjects were contained in said agenda for at least twenty-four hours prior to said meeting; that 
the minutes of the meeting of the City Council of the City of David City, Nebraska, were in 
written form and available for public inspection within ten working days and prior to the next 
convened meeting of said body; that all news media requesting notification concerning meetings 
of said body were provided with advance notification of the time and place of said meeting and 
the subjects to be discussed at said meeting. 
 
 
 
                                                                                                                                                          
               
                                                                                                Tami Comte, City Clerk 

 
 
  
  


